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  Introduction – 1997




  The 1982 South Atlantic war was one of the strangest in British history. At the time, many Britons saw it as a tragic absurdity. Most accepted that some military response to

  the Argentine invasion was necessary, but necessary only after a serious breakdown in British policy and diplomacy. Any dispute that required the dispatch of 20,000 men to fight for a tiny relic of

  empire 8,000 miles from home was bizarre. Even in victory, the government felt obliged to examine its own performance prior to the crisis, with a commission of inquiry under Lord Franks. Its

  limited remit and careful exoneration of the politicians involved was and remains unconvincing.




  The war itself has sunk into history, a glow of military success tinged by only the occasional doubt. The British won, and against the odds. The war confirmed the quality of British arms and the

  effectiveness of British command and control in the field, a quality reconfirmed in the Gulf and Bosnia. The reckless Goose Green adventure and failures in the handling of 5 Infantry Brigade, as

  well as the shortcomings of naval tactics and equipment, have not obscured an overall success. Sending troops by sea halfway round the globe to seize a well-defended island was a huge gamble, and

  its outcome therefore a remarkable triumph. Those who risk their lives at their government’s bidding deserve the tribute of history, especially when they win.




  The aftermath has been chequered. The Tory government, whose political fortunes were greatly boosted by the success, was obliged by continued Argentine belligerence to spend some £2

  billion fortifying the islands, building a vastly expensive air base and deploying there a garrison. These measures conceded a strategic importance to the Falklands which the same British

  government had emphatically denied in negotiating with the Argentines before the war. The Falklands encounter blighted every subsequent review of defence procurement policy.




  For the enemy, the outcome was benign. The Buenos Aires junta under General Galtieri and his colleagues collapsed, ushering in a period of hesitant democracy under President Carlos Menem. As so

  often in war, the vanquished gained as much from the conflict as the victor. The Falklands defeat was probably the best thing to happen to Argentina in half a century. But it did nothing to

  diminish the vigour of that nation’s claim to the islands, which still sit offshore, an enticing target for dissident adventurers.




  The account of the war that we wrote immediately it was over has not been superseded in any important respect since its publication. Few military or political revelations have emerged since 1982

  to discredit our conclusions, although many details have been inked in. We now have a clearer idea of Argentine planning and strategy before and during the war. Some new material has come from

  military and political memoirs (less so from the latter) and from investigative journalism. Military and regimental memoirs do not, in our view, change the basic story as told in 1983 –

  though some books are enlivened by their authors’ personal spleen towards colleagues and rival units.




  Some commentators have criticised censorship by the Ministry of Defence during the war. The weight of literature on this issue chiefly reflects the media’s inflated view of its own

  importance in war. We believe that any government has a right, and probably a duty, to conceal information that might be of value to any enemy when the outcome of a war is at stake. Such a right

  might even embrace deliberate deception. That said, in the Falklands as in much of the Gulf war, the military authorities on the ground enjoyed a virtual monopoly of communication. This is unlikely

  to be repeated in the age of the portable satellite phone.




  Much investigation has been devoted to what supposedly went wrong in the conduct of the fighting. This has suffered from hindsight – notably the completeness of the eventual British

  victory – and from an exaggerated lay expectation of how military units perform in combat. Wars rarely go according to plan. If they are lost, every decision was a mistake. If they are won,

  every excess on the part of the eventual victor was a barbarity. The much-publicised casualties at Goose Green, including the death of 2 Para’s CO Lieutenant Colonel Jones, indeed arose from

  what has been criticised as a reckless ‘political battle’. The bombing of Sir Galahad and Sir Tristram stemmed from sins of commission and omission by middle-ranking

  officers. Yet battles cannot be scrutinised like peacetime train crashes. War is characterised by uncertainty, surprise and overcaution followed by overreaction. Both sides blunder in ignorance, in

  circumstances seldom of their own choosing. Few journalists have personal military experience, and thus the temptation to deploy in war the techniques and values of domestic peactime journalism

  proves hard to resist.




  One instance of foolish hindsight has been the controversy over ‘friendly fire’ casualties. These are a feature of every battle. British casualties from friendly fire in the

  Falklands were trivial by comparison with similar losses suffered by bombing and artillery during the Second World War and even the Gulf war. The Ministry of Defence has been criticised for

  concealing the circumstances of some such deaths from relatives. In previous wars, it has been judged humane to allow next of kin to suppose that their loved ones died by enemy action. This

  approach has nothing to do with a desire to cover up mistakes, but rather with intended kindness. This may no longer be a sustainable policy, but it is not an immoral one.




  The publication in 1993 of a sensational memoir by a former member of 3 Para who saw service on Mount Longdon, alleging that Argentines had been wantonly shot by British troops, provoked a

  frightened Defence Secretary, Mr Malcolm Rifkind, into ordering a costly inquiry. Its report was passed to the Director of Public Prosecutions. After intense controversy, the DPP accepted

  counsel’s advice against charges for manslaughter. It was extraordinary that anyone, least of all a Tory cabinet minister, should ever have thought such charges appropriate. There was no

  suggestion of the Argentines taking action against any of their own veterans for alleged misbehaviour on the islands.




  Similar argument has surrounded the sinking of the Argentine cruiser Belgrano, by the British submarine, HMS Conqueror. This was pursued by many journalists and MPs, including

  notably Labour’s Tam Dalyell. The British government lied in its initial explanation of the Belgrano’s course when attacked. The ship was not directly threatening the British

  task force at the time. That deceit created the foundation on which an edifice of hostile comment has been built. Our view was, and remains, that the attack was justified. The two navies were at

  war, with the odds heavily favouring the Argentines. The sinking went some way to restoring the balance: crucially it drove the Argentinian carrier, The 25th of May, back into port for the

  duration of the war. At that point, the carrier’s mere presence at sea constituted a major threat to the entire British operation.




  The government’s problem was that it could not admit the full scale of the danger facing the task force. It had both to sustain a belief in British invincibility, and yet to take every

  possible step to improve the odds. The enemy’s navy and air force were deployed close to their home bases. As we report, many American analysts at the time predicted that Britain could not

  possibly win and were arguing fiercely over whether a rescue of their British ally was politically feasible.




  Two final questions remain to be considered, material for which was not available at the time of writing this book. The first concerns the Argentine side. In 1983, we examined why the Argentines

  initiated this venture, but not how. Books by Jimmy Burns and Lawrence Freedman have gone some way to answering the first question. We now know for sure that the Argentines brought forward their

  planned July invasion to April because the preliminary testing occupation of South Georgia had gone badly wrong. Yet by July, winter weather would have made a British response near inconceivable.

  ‘General winter’ would have triumphed. Thus does the accident of war determine its outcome.




  The Franks inquiry was set up to answer the second question, but failed so to do: why was Britain taken so completely by surprise? As Simon Jenkins argued in a series of articles for the

  Sunday Times in May 1987, the intelligence failure was not so much one of raw material as of its assessment within the government machine. As we show in our book, copious warning messages

  were flowing from Buenos Aires through the Foreign Office and Ministry of Defence in February and March 1982. In London these messages were distorted and suppressed to suit diverse interests within

  the Whitehall system. Government failed to distinguish correctly between ‘signals’ and ‘noise’, as intelligence jargon has it, chiefly because the political will to do so

  was lacking. Neither the Ministry of Defence nor the Treasury nor the Cabinet collectively wanted to accept the need for costly precautionary measures in the South Atlantic, a distant place for

  which it cared little and of which it knew less. The culture of the Thatcher government at the time was hostile to defence and overseas affairs, and even more so to spending money on them (apart

  from nuclear weapons). Such attitudes, above all else, gave comfort to a prospective enemy and supplied the essential precondition for the war.




  Of this Franks made no mention. The wounding of the reputation of the Foreign Secretary, Lord Carrington, was most unfair. But he recovered, and is today revered as almost the sole honourable

  resigner from the Tory government between 1979 and 1997. Success healed all the wounds and Britain’s introverted political culture closed over them. If the cabinet system was at fault, so

  much the better. No individual need take the blame. Accountability can be lost in collectivity.




  Within a decade, the Falklands war was overshadowed by the much larger deployment of British forces in the Gulf. But the South Atlantic conflict retains its fascination as a freak of imperial

  history. It was a clean British victory – albeit one that required extensive American help. The war was of no wider significance for British interests and taught no lessons. Other British

  colonies, such as Diego Garcia, had their inhabitants evacuated without compunction when it suited the British government. Likewise Hong Kong. The Falklands was essentially a political war, a war

  of pride, a war to save a government’s skin. It taught a dictator a lesson, but not dictatorship. Many dictators enjoy aggression unthreatened by task forces. That was not why the task force

  set sail in April 1982.




  But a task force did set sail. It set sail and it won. Here is the tale of that adventure.




  

    Max Hastings


  




  Simon Jenkins




  January 1997




  





  New Introduction – 2012


  

  

In the three decades since the Falklands conflict took place, it has slipped seamlessly into the same British tradition as the Second World War, because it revived pride in ourselves as a warrior nation. The crisis broke at a time when British national self-confidence was at its lowest ebb since 1945. The 1970s had been a wretched decade, in which economic and industrial woes piled high upon each other. The country seemed unable to get anything right, provoking the scorn and sometimes pity of the world. Margaret Thatcher’s ascent to the premiership in 1979 appeared at first to do little towards re-establishing the country on a course towards prosperity. Her government imposed harsh economic medicine, a succession of tough budgets which included heavy defence cuts. It was made plain that Britain could no longer afford distant strategic commitments, nor an expensive navy to protect them. Mrs.Thatcher’s strident rhetoric, confrontational style and early assaults on trades

union privileges contributed to making her, by the spring of 1982, the most unpopular British prime minister since polling began. It was widely thought that she would face defeat at the nation’s next general election, due within two years.


The invasion of the Falkland islands by Argentine forces seemed, at first, an irreversible humiliation. Mrs.Thatcher acted boldly to undo this not because a vital British national interest was at stake- which it was not- but because had she not done so, it is doubtful that her personal authority would ever have recovered from the consequences of gross diplomatic and political bungling by her government. The campaign which followed was one of the most extraordinary in British history. If its scale was small by the standards of major conflicts between nations, its nature was dramatic and even romantic. Though lack of air superiority made the task force dangerously vulnerable at sea, victory flattered the British Army, because the Argentine land forces performed poorly. Their commanders failed to display even minimal initiative- for instance, to harass the British advance across the island so as to delay its progress, which must have had grave implications, given the stress which

existence in such a harsh environment inflicted upon even fit young Royal Marines and paras. Argentine soldiers defending strong positions with every advantage collapsed astonishingly readily in the face of determined night attacks, with the possible exception of their stubborn defence of Mount Longdon.


As authors, we have decided not to attempt to revise or update our original text, but instead to let this account stand as best as it can after the lapse of thirty years. What is remarkable is not how much little information has since emerged to change our 1983 view of the war, but how little. We should nonetheless highlight some of the more recent revelations. A mass of Argentine documentation is now available, which any serious student of the conflict should examine, because it emphasises the political and military chaos in which decision-making in Buenos Aires took place from beginning to end of the conflict. Next, the release of American secret papers emphasises how much pressure President Ronald Reagan’s Administration exerted on Thatcher, to deter her from imposing military humiliation on the Argentines. Only days before final British victory, the transcript of the president’s telephone call to the prime minister from the White House reveals him urging her to

accept a diplomatic compromise- and being rebuffed. The legend of Thatcher-Reagan political intimacy is a half-truth. Once the war was won, the US government was astonished to discover how much applause Thatcher’s determined stand, and the performance of the British armed forces, roused among its own people. Likewise, the fall of the Argentine military junta was so obviously benign for the interests of civilised forces in South America that Washington forgot its doubts about the British campaign, and joined in the widespread congratulations. Throughout the Falklands crisis, however, US diplomatic behaviour towards Britain highlights the limits of the absurdly misnamed ‘special relationship’ when Washington believes that its own interests do not coincide with those of the government in London.


We see little cause to change most of our judgements on the conduct of the war. The British government injured its own cause by continuing for some years to lie publicly about the circumstances in which the Argentines’ Belgrano was sunk by the submarine Conqueror. The cruiser was heading away from the declared British Exclusion Zone, not approaching it as ministers claimed. When the main Task Force was on its way south, British planners concluded that the odds against the Royal Navy looked alarmingly steep. Something must be done to improve them. An opportunity to sink the Belgrano presented itself, and was ruthlessly seized. In the prevailing circumstances, the British government’s decision deserved sympathy, indeed support. Its subsequent deceits do not, but they were inspired by the Thatcher government’s unwillingness to admit just how apprehensive were its senior members about outcomes, in the early stages of the conflict. 


There was significant confusion about the chain of command in the South Atlantic, with doubts about the remits of the senior officers involved, which caused unnecessary difficulties. Admiral Sir John Fieldhouse exercised overall command with notable wisdom. The pressure he and his team at Fleet Headquarters exerted on Brigadier Julian Thompson at San Carlos to advance and start fighting was brutal, given local difficulties to which Northwood showed insensitivity, but the outcome was benign. Thompson was tactically correct in his assessment that it was unnecessary to attack the Argentine garrison at Goose Green, but there is little doubt that Northwood’s insistence on doing so was vindicated by the moral achievement of a quick local victory against much superior Argentine numbers. Rear-Admiral ‘Sandy’ Woodward made almost all the right tactical decisions, but exercised his authority in ways that made him little loved, especially by the land force. Julian Thompson was

the key figure in operations ashore, ‘man of the match’ as Major-General Jeremy Moore justly described him. Moore himself arrived at the scene of operations with the reinforcement 5 Brigade, too late to exercise important influence, save by taking some of the pressure off Thompson to sustain a daily radio dialogue with their seniors at home.


There has been bitter criticism of the manner in which 5 Brigade performed in the latter stages of the campaign, from its commander down to individual Welsh Guards officers aboard the transport ship Galahad when she suffered air attack. The strictures seem largely justified; the Guards performed less impressively than the Parachute Regiment and Royal Marines. Many of 5 Brigade’s misfortunes reflected culpable incompetence or misjudgement by responsible officers. But media critics often ignore the fact that such misfortunes and mistakes happen in every conflict because, in Lord Tedder’s words, ‘war is organised confusion’. The Guards were neither trained nor psychologically prepared to fight such a campaign as the Falklands, while 3 Commando Brigade was. The loss of the Galahad reflected bungling, but what is remarkable about the campaign as a whole is how competently it was conducted by British commanders at every level.


Wars are not won by the side which makes no mistakes, but by the side which makes one fewer than its adversary. The central fact of the Falklands conflict is that the British won, after conducting their operations much better than the Argentines, who were weak and indeed grossly incompetent foes. Victory provoked a surge of rejoicing back in Britain such as the country had not seen since 1945. It contributed importantly to raising the profile and authority of Margaret Thatcher, whose personal success it was rightly seen to be, and ensured her triumph in the 1983 General Election. It may convincingly be argued that the subsequent ‘Thatcher Revolution’ could never have taken place without the decisive impetus, the thrust to lift-off, which Falklands success provided.


In the immediate aftermath, the enhanced prestige of the armed forces was rewarded with a deluge of government cash to replace lost ships, ensure the future of the Invincible-class carriers, and fortify the Falklands against renewed Argentine assault. In 1982, the British armed forces had scarcely fought a major conflict since Suez, though sustaining a large deployment in Northern Ireland. By contrast, in the intervening years they have been repeatedly engaged. The experience of joining the American liberation of Kuwait in 1991, air operations against Iraq and the 1999 expulsion of the Serbs from Kosovo seemed to sustain the Falklands template of war as a tool that could fulfil Western strategic purposes swiftly, and at small cost in casualties. Thereafter, however, everything changed. The 2001 intervention in Afghanistan, the 2003 invasion of Iraq and the campaigns that followed have proved bloody and inconclusive. 


The British Army has experienced far more intractable difficulties defeating insurgents in ‘wars among the people’ than in overcoming the Argentines in the Falklands. In 1982, it might be said, the British were playing at home, in an environment with which they could readily identify and in the interests of their own kith and kin, while the Argentines were playing away. In Iraq and Afghanistan, the reverse has been true. Western commanders must share with governments responsibility for rashly, if not recklessly, optimistic assessments of what could be achieved and what was. Recent conflicts have proved deeply unpopular with the public. Tony Blair made the error of believing that the lesson of the Falklands war- which, as a young Labour candidate in Beaconsfield in 1982, he opposed- was that the British people like war prime ministers. In truth, we suggest, the British like quick victories in wars the purposes of which they can understand. The Falklands could well prove

the last really popular campaign Britain ever fights.


Successive British governments- including latterly that of Margaret Thatcher- may have used the armed forces enthusiastically, but they have displayed a consistent unwillingness to pay the bills to sustain our pretensions to martial glory. After a decade of Thatcher and tight budgets, when the 1991 Gulf crisis broke, it proved necessary to cannibalise the entire resources of Rhine Army to deploy a single weak armoured division for the liberation of Kuwait, and matters have got much worse since. Tory and Labour administrations have alike sustained a policy of steadily reducing British defence capabilities on land, at sea, and in the air. Britain sent 20,000 men to fight in the South Atlantic. After the latest round of defence cuts in 2015, the army will be capable of deploying only a single battlegroup of 7-8,000 men for sustained operations overseas. If the Argentines ever successfully reoccupy the Falklands, Britain would be incapable of expelling them by force.


The 1982 war created an expensive strategic commitment in the South Atlantic which no British government had previously acknowledged. The price of victory was that resources had to be allocated to defend the islands, to justify retrospectively the fighting of the conflict- a total of some £5 billion over the past 30 years, which the British taxpayer has funded. The Falklands Islands Council now says that, if substantial oil revenues become accessible, which will accrue to the islanders, in future the Council may consider making ‘a financial contribution’ to its own defence, but this would be most unlikely to cover more than a fraction of costs. Defeat in 1982 did not persuade the Argentines to renounce their claim to sovereignty over the islands. In the intervening years, the British diplomatic position in the South Atlantic has become steadily more isolated. Mrs.Thatcher was able to call on support from Chile’s then-dictator, General Pinochet. Today, South

American countries including Chile display solidarity in backing the Argentine claim to ‘Las Malvinas’. The United States has made plain that it is not interested in assisting Britain in a future dispute. US Secretary of State Hillary Clinton publicly expresses the view that the two parties should negotiate about the islands, which she calls ‘the Malvinas’. 


British defence chiefs are perturbed by renewed Argentine sabre-rattling. Britain’s defence policy today assumes that the country will never again have to fight except alongside allies. But if conflict was renewed with Argentina, the British would perforce find themselves alone. The current intelligence assessment is that the government in Buenos Aires has neither the political will nor military means to launch a new invasion. But there is likely to be a continuing war of words, which could escalate if substantial oil reserves begin to be recovered, conferring on the islands a cash value they have hitherto lacked.


The Argentine government has conducted policy towards the islanders with stunning clumsiness: instead of wooing them, seeking gently to persuade them to recognise that they have a more plausible destiny with their South American neighbours than with a waning imperial power 8,000 miles away, Buenos Aires has hectored and threatened them. It is unsurprising that today, the islands’ inhabitants see no cause whatsoever to welcome any new relationship with the blustering regime in Buenos Aires. The 1982 war was one of Britain’s most conspicuous, if strategically marginal, successes of modern times. The British people continue to take much pride in the achievement. Thus, no Westminster government would dare to negotiate them away, whatever the islands’ cost to the Treasury, against the will of local people, which will never be forthcoming in the face of Argentinian bullying. Britain has become a prisoner of some 3,000 islanders, the most expensively defended people on

earth. Here is the ironic and most conspicuous outcome, three decades on, of the 1982 conflict. Britain seems right to continue to look back upon the war as something difficult that the country and its armed forces did well, and which will forever be inseparable from the legend of Margaret Thatcher: it began the creation of the Iron Lady. But the 1982 Falklands story looks to us, all these years later, to have been a last imperial hurrah.
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  Foreword




  This is the story of a freak of history, almost certainly the last colonial war that Britain will ever fight. So extraordinary an event was it that, even after men began to

  die, many of those taking part felt as if they had been swept away into fantasy, that the ships sinking and the guns firing round them had somehow escaped from a television screen in the living

  room.




  As a correspondent with the task force, Max Hastings did not trouble to ask himself whether the war was desirable or necessary. He merely felt privileged to have the opportunity to witness the

  drama at first hand and see the British services go about their business as they always have done: amidst muddle and controversy, showing the capacity for laughter, professionalism, courage and

  determination that has been their inheritance from Blenheim to Belfast. While the war was in progress, the prime concern of almost everyone in Britain was that it should be won. Once it had ended,

  the long and complex process of investigation began. Why was it fought? Should it have been fought? What really took place? Might it have been done differently?




  The day before the task force sailed, we agreed that, if a war indeed broke out in the South Atlantic, we would write a book about it together. Simon Jenkins possesses an extensive knowledge of

  Westminster and Whitehall, and closely watched the politicians, officials and diplomats as they steered Britain through one of her most acute postwar traumas. Hastings could draw on the experience

  of accompanying the task force from Southampton to Port Stanley.




  Our book is primarily an account of British political decision-making and of naval and military operations. It is not a study of the problem of the Falkland Islands and their inhabitants, nor,

  though it draws on a number of first-hand Buenos Aires sources, does it purport to show the war from Argentina’s point of view. In writing the book we have divided our responsibility very

  simply: Jenkins describes events in London, Washington and Argentina. Hastings has written the narrative of the conflict in the South Atlantic. We have united to reach our conclusions.




  In the months since the war ended, each of us has interviewed scores of those who participated. We can claim to have seen almost every central figure of the war, often for many hours. Most have

  been remarkably frank, recognising that the struggle was a unique event and that few of its secrets needed to be shielded from posterity. Most wanted to talk off the record and, though it is an

  irritating convention to quote simply ‘an officer’, ‘a civil servant’ or ‘a minister’, it has sometimes proved necessary, to convey the flavour of what men say

  in time of war. Their words could not have been used had they been attributed. Occasionally the resulting views, particularly of key meetings, conflicted. We can only say we did our best to resolve

  these conflicts and await the ‘truth’, which under Britain’s ridiculous secrecy rules will not emerge until 2012, if at all.




  Hastings would like to pay special tribute to the officers and men of the task force who endured his company at close quarters not only in the Falklands but in the months that followed. He hopes

  that, given time, Chris Keeble of 2 Para will stop dining out on the story of how his attached correspondent fell asleep beside him during the battle for Wireless Ridge. Through the generosity of

  scores of officers and men, Hastings has had access to reports, diaries and letters written both in the South Atlantic and during the post-mortems on the war. He would also like to recognise the

  immense assistance and patience of the Commander in Chief, Fleet’s staff at Northwood in arranging for him to meet so many officers and men of the naval staff and battle group home from the

  South Atlantic. Having preserved their reputation as ‘the silent service’ while the war was being fought, the Royal Navy could not have been more forthcoming and helpful when it had

  ended. They will find much to disagree with in what we have written, but we hope they will accept that we have attempted honestly to reach for the reality of what took place. The manuscript was

  read before publication by a number of senior officers of the task force, whose comments and corrections have been invaluable. They do not, of course, bear any responsibility for the authors’

  errors or judgements.




  Jenkins must thank the many anonymous ministers, civil servants, diplomats and officers who helped him in London, New York and Washington, generously sparing their time and often laying bare

  their reputations with no more than an ‘off the record’ to protect them. Librarians at Chatham House, Canning House and the Economist were indispensable. Of the many sources on

  Argentina, Andrew Graham-Yooll, Malcolm Deas and Guillermo Makin were invaluable, as was Jimmy Burns in Buenos Aires. Richard Natkiel prepared the maps with great speed and efficiency.




  We both owe a great debt of thanks to our wives, who had to live with the Falklands for an obsessive eight months. Louis Kirby, editor of the London Standard, not only sent Hastings to

  the Falklands but offered him immense kindness and support after his return and put up with his absence while this book was being written. Andrew Knight, editor of the Economist, showed the

  same understanding towards his Political Editor, Simon Jenkins. Jennie Davies and Henrietta Heald made possible a remarkable effort of book production at great speed, and helped with the collation

  of photos and the correction of the manuscript.




  The Franks Report on the preliminaries to the Falklands war appeared in January 1983, after the first impression had been printed. It has since been read alongside our text, which, except in a

  few chronological details, has not required material adjustment. Only our conclusions differ, as can be seen in our concluding chapter. For convenience and for the record, Franks’s

  conclusions are reproduced as Appendix D.




  We would like to think that this book is more than instant journalism, if necessarily less than instant history. Let us call it an interim report on Britain’s war in the South Atlantic,

  based overwhelmingly on the testimony of the participants, at home and abroad, at sea and ashore.




  

    Max Hastings
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  1 » FORGOTTEN ISLANDS




  

    

      All this country is bare with not a bit of wood, very windy and very cold, because eight months in the year it snows and the prevailing winds are south-west.




      Log of unknown ship out of Seville, 1540




      The 14th wee were driven in among certain Isles never before discovered . . . lying fiftie leagues or better from the shoare, in which place unlesse it had pleased God of his

      wonderfull mercie to have ceased the wind, wee must of necessitie have perished.




      Passenger with Captain John Davis, 1592




      On the 24th day about dawn, three little islands were sighted, hitherto neither noted nor drawn on any map. These were given the new name Sebaldes . . . in the same place they

      found an extraordinary number of penguins.




      Ship’s surgeon under Sebald de Weert, 1600


    


  




  The Falkland Islands’ misfortune has always been to be wanted more than they are loved. They loomed up out of mountainous seas and freezing fog, disorienting and

  terrifying early sailors blown east from Cape Horn. Navigators unsure if they were still off the South American mainland would merely record in their logs a barren but lethal coastline of rocks and

  inlets, and pray they lived to tell the tale. No one knows who saw the islands first. Vespucci, Magellan, Davis, Hawkins, Sebald de Weert may all make their claims. As a result, the islands

  acquired a bewildering variety of names: the Sansons, the Sebaldes, Hawkins Land, the Malouines, the Malvinas. For those concerned with theories of discovery, Spaniards,

  Britons and Dutchmen are almost equally entitled to credit.




  We do at least know who first set foot on the Falklands. In 1690, Captain John Strong was voyaging to Chile when he was driven east from the Cape in a violent storm. He found himself off the

  northern tip of the islands, which he identified from a previous sighting by Captain Richard Hawkins. ‘Here are many good harbours,’ Strong wrote. ‘We found fresh water in plenty

  and killed an abundance of geese and ducks. As for wood, there is none.’ Strong did no more than chart the sound between the two main islands and name it after the First Lord of the

  Admiralty, Lord Falkland. He then sailed on.




  Strong was soon followed by others in the period of intense trade rivalry between eighteenth-century Spain, Britain and France. Under the Treaty of Utrecht of 1713, Spain’s control of its

  traditional territories in the Americas – which embraced the Falklands – was formally confirmed, but this appears to have done little to restrain English and French ambitions. Covetous

  eyes were cast at islands which, in Lord Anson’s hyperbolic words, ‘even in time of peace might be of great consequence to this nation and in time of war would make us master of the

  seas’. The basis of Anson’s enthusiasm was that the islands would be a refuge and refreshment base for British ships rounding Cape Horn. Whether he envisaged a fully fledged naval base

  is not clear. Little immediate action was taken on Anson’s advice. But the concept of the Falklands as a maritime key to various El Dorados was already planted in the political

  consciousness.




  The first man to carry through a plan to take and settle the Falklands was a French nobleman, Antoine de Bougainville, eager for revenge against Britain after the loss of Quebec. Sailing from St

  Malo on 5 April 1764, he formally claimed the islands in the name of Louis XV. Along with rights derived from the general Spanish dominion in those parts, this occupation lies at the root of all

  subsequent Argentine claims to the Falklands. The French landed north of the site of the present Port Stanley on East Falkland. It was, de Bougainville wrote, ‘a

  countryside lifeless for want of inhabitants . . . everywhere a weird and melancholy uniformity’. Nonetheless he and his band of colonists built a small fort and settlement, which they called

  Port Louis. This was replenished with supplies the following year. Despite its bleak location, the colony put down firm roots. However distant and trivial an event this may seem to British eyes,

  the strength of present-day Argentine feeling cannot be understood without an awareness of it.




  At almost exactly the same time, the British, perhaps warned of de Bougainville’s expedition, conceived of a similar venture. Commodore John Byron, who rejoiced in the nickname

  ‘Foul-weather Jack’, was sent out by the Admiralty to survey the islands and lay claim to them. He arrived on West Falkland a year after the French in 1765 and, unaware of the presence

  of the French on the other island, hoisted the Union Jack. He named the spot Port Egmont, planted a small vegetable patch and immediately sailed away.




  Yet another year passed and Captain John McBride was sent out to consolidate Byron’s landing, with orders to build a fort and eject any other settlers who might be on the islands or

  question Britain’s right to the territory. For the first time, the British now encountered the French at Port Louis, numbering some 250. The French pointed out that theirs was a properly

  constituted colony and it was McBride who should leave.




  The Falklands thus stumbled onto the stage of world politics. The Spanish were furious at what they regarded as a blatant breach of the terms of the Treaty of Utrecht by both British and French

  expeditions. France was at this time considered an ally of Spain and an agreement was reached by which the Port Louis colony was ceded to the Spanish in return for substantial compensation to de

  Bougainville. The transfer was accomplished at a ceremony on East Falkland in 1767 and a new Spanish governor, Don Felipe Ruiz Puente, appointed under the captain general of Buenos Aires. The

  colony was renamed Puerto Soledad. The French cannot have been sorry to vacate so desolate a spot. Certainly the Spanish were none too happy on arrival. ‘I tarry in this

  miserable desert, suffering everything for the love of God,’ wrote Father Sebastian Villanueva, the community’s first priest. A British lieutenant stationed at the time at Port Egmont

  added his amen: ‘The most detestable place I was ever at in all my life.’




  It took Spain two years to act against the British on West Falklands. In 1769, the Buenos Aires captain general, a spirited character named Francisco Bucarelli, was instructed by Madrid to drive

  any British from the islands, by force if necessary. He set about his task with evident relish. Five ships and 1,400 men were sent from the mainland. The British commander in charge at Port Egmont,

  Captain George Farmer, duly quit the settlement ‘under protest’ with his small band of marines. He arrived home in England in September 1770. The Falklands historian Julius Goebel,

  writing in 1927 of Farmer’s reception by Lord North’s hard-pressed government,1 provides us with a premonition of the events which were to

  occur two centuries later: ‘The ministry, which had clearly been disposed to an accommodation at the outset of the trouble and might even have gone so far as to acquiesce in an arrangement

  suggested by Spain . . . now found itself in the situation where only extreme measures would silence popular clamour.’




  The result was Britain’s first Falklands crisis. The enemy this time was Spain and the dispute was dominated by the domestic insecurities of the respective governments. A year of frenetic

  diplomacy ensued, with threats of war from both sides. Finally an agreement was reached under which Britain would be allowed to return to Port Egmont ‘to restore the King’s

  honour’, Spain nonetheless reserving her claim to sovereignty. The Spanish maintained, however, that the British return was only permitted as a result of a promise by Lord North that the

  British would subsequently leave again. This promise had had to be kept secret  because of the outcry it might have produced from Lord Chatham’s opposition.




  At the same time the government commissioned a pamphlet from Dr Samuel Johnson in an effort to lower the temperature and diminish the importance of West Falkland in British eyes. Johnson wrote

  that it was a place ‘thrown aside from human use, stormy in winter, barren in summer, an island which not even the southern savages have dignified with habitation, where a garrison must be

  kept in a state that contemplates with envy the exiles of Siberia, of which the expense will be perpetual.’




  A British expedition indeed returned to Port Egmont, but evacuated it three years later. A plaque was left, which stated: ‘Be it known to all nations that Falkland’s Ysland, with

  this fort, the storehouses, wharfs . . . are the sole right and property of His Most Sacred Majesty George III, King of Great Britain.’ (Most British sources have made the

  ‘Ysland’ plural, thus extending the claim beyond West Falkland.) There was no British suggestion that the Spanish should leave Puerto Soledad. Indeed, on a number of later occasions,

  the British effectively acknowledged Spanish jurisdiction on the islands. In 1790, the two nations signed the Nootka Sound Convention, by which Britain formally renounced any colonial ambitions in

  South America ‘and the islands adjacent’. The Falklands were now occupied as a Spanish colony for forty years, until the collapse of Spain’s New World empire in the early

  nineteenth century.




  The first stirrings of a move towards independence from Spain occurred in Buenos Aires in 1810 and, as a result, the colonial authorities decided the following year to remove Spanish settlers

  from Puerto Soledad and from neighbouring Patagonia on the mainland. The Falkland Islands were now left to their fate as a refuge for sealing and whaling vessels from a number of nations, under no

  other justice than that administered by passing ships’ captains. In 1820, however, the new state of the United Provinces of Rio de la Plata, forerunner of the present Argentina, sent a

  frigate to claim them as part of its post-colonial legacy from Spain. The commander told the fifty or so vessels at the Puerto Soledad settlement that all fishing and hunting

  on the islands lay within the jurisdiction of his government. Successive attempts during the 1820s to assert this authority appear to have fallen on deaf ears in the anarchic, largely maritime

  community. Nonetheless, Buenos Aires appointed its first governor in 1823, and by 1829 matters had improved sufficiently for another, Louis Vernet, to ally governorship with substantial farming and

  trading interests on the islands. He also imposed restrictions on the indiscriminate slaughter of the seal population, then in danger of extinction. The British consul in Buenos Aires, Woodbine

  Parish, felt obliged to sustain Britain’s old claim to the islands (despite Nootka Sound), protesting at Vernet’s appointment though taking no further action.




  Vernet proceeded to execute his commission by arresting an American ship, Harriet, for engaging in what he regarded as illegal sealing and confiscating some of her property. He sailed

  with her to Buenos Aires to put her captain on trial. With some encouragement from Parish, the American consul in the city took umbrage at this action, claiming that American vessels could do what

  they liked on the Falklands, as America had never recognised Vernet’s jurisdiction there. Finding himself fortuitously with an American warship in port, USS Lexington, the consul

  dispatched it to Puerto Soledad to secure the restitution of the property, mostly sealskins, that Vernet had confiscated from the American ship.




  If any action in history can be said to have been the cause of the 1982 Falklands war, it was that taken by the reckless captain of Lexington, Captain Silas Duncan, on arrival at Puerto

  Soledad. He not only recovered the confiscated sealskins, but also spiked the Argentine guns, blew up their powder, sacked the settlement buildings and arrested most of the inhabitants. He then

  declared the islands ‘free of all government’ and sailed away. His action was pure piracy. The result was recrimination between Washington and Buenos Aires over reparations – for

  Vernet’s and Duncan’s actions respectively – which continued into the present century. Meanwhile the Argentinians sent another governor to the islands, Juan

  Mestivier, who unfortunately was murdered on arrival by the few Argentinians left by Duncan, most of them convicts.




  Alerted by Parish, the Admiralty now took its chance. On 2 January 1833, the British returned to the Falklands with two warships, Tyne and Clio, under the command of Captain James

  Onslow. He had been instructed by the Palmerston government to take and hold the islands for Britain. Onslow found the commander of an Argentine frigate, Don Jose Maria Pinedo, in the midst of

  suppressing the rebels who had murdered Mestivier. Onslow ordered him to lower the Argentine flag and depart. Outgunned, Pinedo was forced to leave: yet another officer departing the Falklands

  under a ‘protest’ which cannot have been too heartfelt. It took the British another six months to hunt down a group of vagrant gauchos who refused to accept British rule. One of them, a

  bandit named Antonio Rivero, was finally arrested and returned to Montevideo and has since been cast as a heroic Argentine ‘guerrilla’. With the exception of two months in 1982, the

  British have remained in possession of the Falklands ever since – though for eight years after 1833 they did little to restore the rule of law which the Argentinians had been struggling to

  maintain before their ejection.




  The Falklands were never of any great strategic importance – certainly not before the advent of coal-powered vessels. Yet from the moment of their discovery they seem to

  have embodied the national pride of whoever held them. All Argentinians are convinced the ‘Malvinas’ belong to them, outrageously seized by a colonial power in 1833. Likewise, as the

  British Foreign Secretary, Francis Pym, asserted in 1982, ‘Her Majesty’s government is not in any doubt about our title to the islands and we never have been.’ In an era of at

  least rudimentary international justice, the claims of each cannot simply be subordinated to the principle of ‘might is right’ and ‘possession is nine tenths of the law’.

  Some adjudication of the issue is appropriate.




  The Argentine case rests on the argument that discovery alone has never been accepted by international lawyers as the foundation of sovereignty. Discovery is only a valid

  basis if allied to occupation and settled administration. The first colony on the islands was French, but this was ceded by de Bougainville to Spain – virtually the only straightforward deal

  in the whole history of the Falklands. The British claim to first occupation must be confined to West Falkland, and did not involve any settled community. After a major dispute with Spain, this

  occupation was terminated: the famous plaque is legally immaterial. Spain then operated a peaceful colony on the islands for forty years. When Spain left, in 1811, the British did not claim the

  Falklands back and the government of what became Argentina declared sovereignty by inheritance from Spain in 1820. It appointed governors, installed them and at least attempted to enforce

  administration and justice. It was only a fortuitous act of American piracy which permitted the British seizure.




  The British case is three-fold. First, Britain asserted a claim in 1765 and never renounced it. In 1833 this was merely being reasserted to fill a political vacuum on the islands. This argument

  is not strong, and is known to have caused the Foreign Office some hesitancy when Argentina again revived her claim late last century. American ‘neutrality’ on the issue of sovereignty

  is based on similar doubts, expressed in a secret State Department memorandum of 1947.




  Since before the Second World War, the British have moved to a second area of argument, the doctrine of prescription. This broadly states that continuous possession over a period of time

  constitutes a right to ownership. The right is clearly reinforced if that possession is not contested by the world at large. Nor is it annulled by another claimant persisting in a competing demand.

  In international law, this is little more than an affirmation that might, sustained for long enough, is right.2 The best that can be said in its defence is

  that, if all nations reopened 150-year-old claims whenever they felt strong enough, the world would be a bloodier place than it is.




  The strongest British argument rests on a third principle, that of self-determination. The islands have a two-thirds indigenous population, who passionately want to stay British. Respect for the

  wishes of inhabitants on matters of sovereignty is enshrined in the United Nations charter and has underlain decades of decolonisation. The Argentinians protest that any nation can thus take

  another’s land, implant settlers and claim it. Yet, undoubtedly, the fact of the islanders’ presence and their freely expressed desire to remain British has dominated the last seventeen

  years of negotiation over their future.




  Argentina can at least argue that she has never allowed her claim to lapse altogether. Buenos Aires objected when Britain formally declared a colonial administration in the

  Falklands in 1842. In the 1880s, when Argentina was being ‘rounded off’ to the south with Chile, she again asked for the islands back. In 1908, Britain unilaterally declared sovereignty

  over uninhabited territory south of the Falklands. South Georgia, the South Sandwich, Orkney and Shetland Islands and Graham Land were all grouped under the Falkland Islands Dependencies. Argentina

  declared they were firmly hers, and thereby began half a century of genteel squabbling between British, Argentine and Chilean warships and scientists. They would sail south and put down plaques and

  build sheds to test each other’s resolve before retreating from the hostile weather.




  By the end of the Second World War, the Argentine government, the British Foreign Office, the Falklands people and the British navy were all setting out on a collision course. Most had started

  as the best of friends. In the 1930s, Argentina was still part of Britain’s commercial, if not political, empire. Under the 1933 Roca-Runciman pact she was even granted the same import

  preferences for her foodstuffs as those given to the new Commonwealth dominions. Massive European immigration from Italy and Germany as well as Spain began to weaken

  Argentina’s links with Britain. Argentina was proud that its population was almost exclusively European with little negro or Amerindian stock. She chose to distance herself from her Latin

  American neighbours to the north, and in 1930 a military coup instilled a new nationalism into her politics. A booming economy established an industrial base and the interest groups to match.

  Argentina was a nation of rising expectations, active trade unions and diversifying political power.




  In Germany, Italy and Spain – ‘home’ to tens of thousands of Argentinians – such a society had produced the phenomenon of national socialism. The phenomenon took another

  decade to flower in Argentina but, from 1945 onwards, Colonel Juan Peron and his followers were able to build on this base some three decades of charismatic nationalism. Since his death in 1974,

  Peron’s memory has sustained one of South America’s most destructive political vendettas, that between Argentina’s ‘Peronistas’ and her military class. No one in the

  dramatis personae of the Falklands war cast a darker shadow across the counsels of the Argentine junta than Juan Peron. He was commendatore to Galtieri’s Don Giovanni.




  Peron’s army background, his visits to prewar Spain and Italy and his overt admiration for Mussolini led him towards what he termed ‘integral nationalism’. After the Second

  World War, in which Argentina had sided until the last minute with the axis powers, she found herself a nation apart from the new US-sponsored pan-Americanism. This independence determined a fierce

  restatement of her right to various disputed borders, chiefly in Tierra del Fuego, the South Atlantic and the Antarctic. Maps, commissions, expeditions, ‘scientific’ bases, all flowed

  south from Buenos Aires, challenging Britain’s traditional supremacy in this area of the world. In 1959, Antarctica was regularised and in theory demilitarised by one of the few successes of

  international law, the Antarctic Treaty. Britain now narrowed the ambit of the Falkland islands Dependencies to the three groups of islands north of the 60th parallel laid

  down in the treaty; the South Sandwich Islands, South Georgia and the Falklands themselves. In doing so, she once again intensified Argentine feeling that these islands were not and never should be

  British.




  Peron appears to have been content to leave all this to his diplomats. The islands were of no economic and only limited strategic significance. There was no zest for colonising them and the

  presence of a settled British community was at least a complicating factor. The British navy also still had a base at Simonstown in South Africa. Nevertheless, all Argentine schools were instructed

  to teach ‘The Malvinas are Argentine’, a cry which was even set to music. A generation of Argentinians thus grew up regarding the British occupation as an affront to their nationhood.

  Repossession was not a matter of legal or diplomatic nicety. It was a challenge to national honour. British ministers visiting Buenos Aires in the 1960s and 1970s were constantly baffled by the

  emotion the subject aroused. Such relics of empire were fast fading from the minds of the European ‘regionalists’ at Westminster. It was a mystery why they should arouse such feeling

  among emergent regionalists elsewhere in the world.




  Most British politicians were perhaps dimly aware that the Falklands were a welcome respite from the anguish of imperial retreat. As one nation after another threw off the British connection,

  the Falklanders desperately wanted the connection to stay. Here was imperialism and self-determination marching for once side by side. Yet both required defence against a hostile neighbour. The

  Falklands had long sheltered under the umbrella of imperial defence. As that umbrella was removed they became increasingly exposed, dependent not on real military power but on the memory of it.

  They were protected by a form of historical bluff.




  The political party on which had fallen the burden of much of Britain’s decolonisation was ironically the party which had traditionally grasped the empire to its bosom. By the end of the

  thirteen years of Conservative rule in 1964, the major British possessions in Africa and Asia were either independent or becoming so. Yet the military bases designed to

  defend them were still in place. From Hong Kong and Singapore, through Aden and Simonstown to Cyprus and Gibraltar, the Union Jack still flew. Tories who had resented the pace of imperial retreat

  now fought, from the opposition benches, to maintain this military umbrella.




  Such MPs argued that a reduced empire did not entail a reduced world role as long as British forces were deployed. Like the nuclear bomb, British bases were a ‘ticket to the top

  table’ of nations. The new Labour Prime Minister, Harold Wilson, was not averse to this argument. Yet, just as the Tories had had to guard their backs against their right wing in matters of

  foreign and defence policy, so Wilson had to guard against his left. Withdrawal from east of Suez became a rallying cry to Wilson’s party opponents, and one which he ultimately conceded. A

  crucial consequence of this front-bench insecurity over post-imperial policy was to remove foreign and defence affairs out of the limelight of parliamentary and public debate into the more secret

  world of Foreign Office working parties, Ministry of Defence committees and backbench study groups. Within these nether regions of the British constitution, policy could be formulated and

  implemented (or obstructed) with a minimum of public scrutiny or controversy.




  The major responsibility for sustaining the defence of the Falklands lay with the Royal Navy. More than any other service, it had found little consolation in the retreat from empire. As each

  patch of red faded from the globe, so too did the need for aircraft carriers, amphibious landing ships and overseas bases. The advent of seaborne nuclear weapons and the lengthening time-span

  required for ship design called for frequent and usually pessimistic reviews of naval strategy. A service grown doubtful of its role began to turn in on itself and defend its institutional

  territories – which mostly meant ships. Navy ministers, sea lords, admirals of the fleet now earned their battle honours in the linoleum corridors of the great white Ministry of Defence

  building in Whitehall. Their defeats were recorded in the leaden prose of successive defence white papers. Their victories lay gleaming on the slipways of the Tyne and the

  Clyde. Their arguments were not without force: Britain’s foreign-policy makers could not sustain a wide range of alliance commitments on the hot air of diplomacy alone. But what ships the

  navy really needed was a matter of bitter debate.




  In the 1960s and early 1970s the navy was led by such strong personalities as Sir Michael le Fanu and Sir Peter Hill-Norton. Their periods of office seemed dominated by a single obsession: the

  fate of Britain’s carrier force. The aircraft carrier symbolised not merely the majesty of naval power but the navy’s ability to perform a full range of operational tasks worldwide. The

  carriers’ existence demonstrated Britain’s continuing role as world policeman. Admirals and their parliamentary supporters fought for their carriers with a determination – and,

  through the letters column of The Times, an insubordination – unheard of in other public services. It was the Labour Defence Secretary, Denis Healey, who first set out to sink the

  carriers in 1966, in what was intended as the most radical defence white paper since the war. He stated categorically that the only sort of operation for which aircraft carriers would ever again be

  required would be a ‘landing or withdrawal of troops against sophisticated opposition outside the range of land-based air cover’. (The Falklands war in a nutshell.) Yet he could

  envisage no such operation in which Britain might be engaged ‘unaided by our allies’. Britain, in other words, would be a policeman only in concert with the Americans.




  The navy maintained its campaign throughout the 1970s. Plans for ‘Harrier carriers’ and ‘through-deck cruisers’ came thick and fast across defence secretaries’

  desks. This campaign was sufficiently successful for one ‘mini-carrier’, Invincible, to be available for the South Atlantic while a second, Illustrious, was under

  construction on the Tyne. Britain also still possessed the old carrier Hermes, now officially designated as a ‘Landing Platform Helicopter’. The strategic justification for these

  ships, which could take only Harriers and helicopters, was that they provided anti-submarine defence for Nato. By the time of John Nott’s 1981 white paper, this function was considered better

  (and certainly more cheaply) performed by destroyers and frigates. Hermes was scheduled for the scrapyard and Invincible had been sold to the Australians. In

  the late 1970s, financial restrictions on the Royal Navy were also so severe that warships were crippled by lack of spare parts. Some Leander-class frigates were unable to operate their primary

  sonars. Naval pay had fallen so low that many sailors based ashore were ‘moonlighting’, taking second jobs to increase their incomes. 1980 was the blackest year of all, with a total

  moratorium on defence contracts, and fuel allocations so severely cut that many ships could not put to sea for months.




  Carriers were not the only victims of naval retrenchment. Just as Healey had tried to predict the strategic requirements which Nato would make of the navy ten years from 1966, so John Nott had

  to make the same prediction in 1981. He came to a remarkably similar conclusion. To Nott, the navy should concentrate on anti-Soviet and anti-submarine defence. Not only were carriers no longer a

  requirement, but ‘needs do not warrant the replacement of specialist amphibious ships’ intended for out-of-area landings. The assault ships Fearless and Intrepid found

  their days were numbered.




  The whole tenor of Nott’s 1981 review – inspired by the most sustained attack ever mounted by the Treasury on defence spending – was to curtail the surface role of the navy and

  reduce its need for costly surface warships. It was this cut in the navy’s conventional capability which secured Nott the resignation of the Navy Minister, Keith Speed (a carbon copy of that

  of Healey’s minister, Christopher Mayhew, also over carriers), and the enmity of the First Sea Lord, Admiral Sir Henry Leach. Blessed with a pleasant manner but a devastating directness of

  approach, Leach had run up his battle colours over his corner of the Ministry of Defence and laid down a withering fire in Nott’s direction. His defeat only made him the more outspoken. It

  seemed that not since de Ruyter sailed up the Medway in 1667 had such havoc been wrought on the British navy. Nott showed considerable political courage in resisting this bombardment to the

  end.




  To most defence strategists, Nott had finally called the Royal Navy’s bluff. Set-piece sea battles, mass convoys, amphibious landings and land-support gunnery

  – the textbook manoeuvres of the first half of the twentieth century – had finally been sent to the museum. To the Prime Minister, Margaret Thatcher, Nott’s review was the cause

  of much political anguish and her support for it was conditioned largely by her desire to cut spending. It alienated those among her backbench MPs such as Julian Amery, Winston Churchill and Alan

  Clark, whose enthusiasm for her leadership had been built on her declared intention to expand Britain’s defences. These tended to be the same MPs as were deeply offended by her

  ‘sellout’ to the black majority in Rhodesia and by any concessions made to the Common Market. Ironically, the Ministry of Defence came to join the Foreign Office – two ostensibly

  ‘conservative’ departments – as the Whitehall institutions which the Tory right disliked most intensely.




  Despite being cast by most critics as the villain of the Falklands piece, the Foreign Office had been more adaptable than most arms of government to Britain’s changed postwar role. It had

  been forced to build new alliances with many nations who were either careless of Britain or actively hostile to her. For diplomats working in such a climate, the lingering relics of empire were a

  patent embarrassment. Far from being paternalist havens of order in a troubled world, the surviving colonies tended to be sources of revolution, terrorism and instability. By the early 1970s,

  admittedly, there were not many of them left. With the exceptions of Rhodesia and Hong Kong, they were scattered islands and enclaves still ‘clinging close to nurse for fear of something

  worse’. Most were in the Caribbean and Polynesia, but there was also a disparate group including Mauritius, St Helena, Diego Garcia and the Falklands. These were the true orphans of

  post-imperialism. History had left them on Britain’s doorstep and few had any desire to go back on the street.




  Two of these possessions, Gibraltar and the Falklands, fell into a special category. They were occupied by people of British background and citizenship but were also

  claimed by their adjacent foreign states. Unlike, for instance, the Solomons or Bermuda, they could not be included in some regional defence arrangement. They were British colonies and proud of it.

  The task of running these territories had originally lain with the Colonial Office. As its responsibilities diminished, this office was in 1966 merged with the Commonwealth Office and two years

  later with the Foreign Office. Veterans of colonial government, many of them former soldiers, found themselves junior partners in a department dominated by the ethos of diplomacy rather than

  administration.




  Here, old colonial functions lived on in divisions with titles such as ‘Gibraltar and General’ and ‘Oceanic Territories’. Governorships were seldom prized, indeed they

  often signified the end of a career. Money for colonial development had to be prised from the new Overseas Development Ministry (later Agency), where it competed with more needy and politically

  significant clients for generosity. Indeed, the Falklands were notorious in Whitehall for being per capita the wealthiest recipients of ODM funds. The Falklands’ population comprised only

  1,800 people living in utterly self-contained circumstances. In the eyes of the new Foreign and Commonwealth Office, they could not possibly weigh heavily against British policy towards South

  America, a continent of 240 millions.




  Last in the Falklands cast list – but by no means least – comes the British Parliament. Successive governments have, as we have seen, had devious reasons for steering foreign policy

  away from the House of Commons. This desire for secrecy has been equalled only by Parliament’s apparent lack of interest in overcoming it. William Wallace, in his study of the Commons’

  supervision of foreign affairs,3 has argued that such supervision is now virtually non-existent. Neither full-dress debates nor Foreign Office question

  times exercise any proper scrutiny of policy. Even ministers seem to act as little more than mouthpieces for decisions taken behind their backs, and usually before their

  time. As these decisions rarely involve resources, they are deprived of the red meat of public controversy, a row with Treasury. Foreign affairs barely registers on any poll of issues taxing the

  mind of the electorate. Why should MPs bother?




  Just occasionally, this complacency can backfire. Events can enforce a policy change. The government must adapt accordingly. A small handful of MPs may not understand this change or may

  represent an interest to which it is a threat. Shut out from the process of decision, they can resort only to suspicion and antagonism. The issue may be unimportant. The cabinet of the day may feel

  the change demanded of it not worth the political aggravation. At this point, the process of foreign-policy formation becomes tense and embattled. Having neglected for so long to make friends in

  the wider political community, the Foreign Office finds itself hamstrung, with no allies, no constituency and no supportive lobby. Diplomats have to prevaricate and stall. Ministers have to

  dissemble. For over seventeen years this is what happened to the FO’s Falklands policy. This policy ended in failure and the nation went to war.




  





  2 » THE SEVENTEEN YEARS’ WAR




  

    

      If the problem of the Falkland–Malvinas Islands leads to tragedy, the disaster will be a prime instance of the effects of non-communication all round, a national dilemma

      rendered lethal by separate and total ignorance.




      H. S. Ferns, Argentina, 1968


    


  




  ‘The interests of the inhabitants of these territories are paramount.’ In August 1964, with these ringing words, the British representative at the United Nations,

  Lord Caradon, declared his nation’s future motto for a long-drawn-out diplomatic battle and a three-month war with Argentina. Caradon was responding to a declaration on the part of the

  Falklanders, conveyed to the UN General Assembly, that under all circumstances they wished to remain a British dependency. The rights of the islanders to self-determination, he said, lay squarely

  within the terms of Article 73 of the UN Charter.




  The cause of this sudden interest in the Falkland Islands by the highest forum of world affairs was a decision by Argentina to use the UN ‘committee of 24’ on decolonisation to

  demand the ‘return’ of the Falklands to Argentine sovereignty. The committee was turning its attention to Britain as a result of the independence crisis in Rhodesia. Argentina, in

  collaboration with Spain over Gibraltar, felt the time was ripe to play the anti-imperialist card. Nothing happened for a year. Then Ian Smith declared unilateral independence for his white regime

  in Salisbury and Britain found herself suddenly vulnerable. In December 1965, a resolution was rushed through the General Assembly calling on Britain and Argentina to

  ‘proceed without delay with negotiations . . . with a view to finding a peaceful solution to the problem’. From this simple resolution (No. 2065), so easy to pass in the panglossian

  atmosphere of the UN in New York, all else in this book follows.




  The Falkland Islands had been the most somnolent of sleeping dogs. The UN resolution meant this could no longer be. The Wilson government had enough problems with the UN over Rhodesia not to go

  flouting a General Assembly resolution on so vague and trivial a matter as the Falklands. Negotiations commenced. These negotiations and the international auspices under which they were conducted

  gradually lent legitimacy to the Argentine claim. They implied that there was indeed an issue about which to negotiate and when they ran into any obstacle, notably islander resistance, Buenos Aires

  was enabled to feel a grievance, a sense of injustice.




  The Foreign Office minister charged with the first talks was a former soldier and defence journalist, Lord Chalfont. Appointed by Harold Wilson in 1964 to the novel post of Minister for

  Disarmament, Chalfont had expected to spend his time commuting between London and Geneva. But the Foreign Office is no respecter of fancy titles. Chalfont found himself expected to accept his share

  of ministerial responsibilities, and these included relations with Latin America, which in turn embraced the Falklands negotiations. As Chalfont approached the task, his staff, departmental

  interest and personal reputation as a skilled negotiator were thus all directed towards honouring the negotiating remit and seeking a compromise, rather than allowing the islanders the final say

  and resting the case on that. In other words, the British ‘national interest’ overrode that of the islanders. The basis of the Foreign Office view on the Falklands was laid.




  The view received reaffirmation with the first-ever tour of Latin America by a serving British Foreign Secretary, Michael Stewart, in 1966. The tour was a gesture towards what had always been

  regarded as a ‘Cinderella’ continent, and Stewart used it to prepare a critique of British diplomatic practice since the war. He said that the diplomats had been

  over-preoccupied with political work and neglectful of commercial.4 In Latin America British investment and management had enjoyed a high reputation. Yet

  sheer inertia was permitting Germans, French and Americans to steal markets which should be British. The foreign service had to realise that modern diplomacy was the handmaid of economics as well

  as that of politics. The commercial attaché was king. To such a philosophy, a footling dispute with Argentina over the Falklands was a nuisance, a cloud over the Latin American landscape

  where the sun of British salesmanship ought now to shine. ‘Reaching some agreement with Buenos Aires’ became a prerequisite for improved trade.




  The Argentine foreign ministry at the time was in the hands of a lawyer and former ambassador to Chile named Nicanor Costa Mendes. A short perky man, cosmopolitan, fond of English clothes and

  pretty women, Costa Mendes loved to flaunt his expertise in international relations. (He has even been a visiting lecturer at St Anthony’s College, Oxford.) Yet his politics were firmly

  conservative and nationalist. He saw in the pursuit of Argentina’s territorial claims against both Chile and Britain a means of strengthening the nation’s identity and resisting the

  countervailing social appeal of Peronism. Under Costa Mendes, Argentina’s claim to the Falklands entered the country’s political arena to become more than just a slogan. It was also a

  valuable diversion from domestic ills. His attempt to put this concept into practice straddled the history of the Falklands dispute. Early in 1966, Costa Mendes established the Instituto y Museo

  Nacional de las Islas Malvinas y Adjacencias, an offshoot of the old Antarctic Institute in Buenos Aires. A Peronist committee for the recovery of the Malvinas was revived. Even the backing of the

  Anglo-Argentine community was obtained: its senior figure, Sir George Bolton of the Bank of London and South America, told Michael Stewart during his visit that the issue was a ‘running

  sore’ in relations between the two countries.




  There now followed a series of meetings in London in July 1966 between a senior Foreign Office diplomat, Henry Hohler, and an official from the Argentine embassy, Juan

  Carlos Beltramino. Like all Argentine diplomats in London, Beltramino was (and has remained) a Falklands expert. Hohler had just arrived by way of postings in Europe and an ambassadorship in

  Saigon. Throughout the years of talks with Britain, Argentina’s official negotiators were a relatively constant and experienced team. Few British representatives lasted more than two years.

  ‘Which regime is supposed to be the stable one?’ an Argentinian once murmured as he saw yet another strange face across the table.




  The Hohler–Beltramino talks were conducted in secret and were clearly predicated on an eventual transfer of sovereignty. The chief concern was to find a means of protecting the rights and

  way of life of the islanders and to secure the continued development of the islands’ economy. Both sides were abruptly reminded of the sensitivity of the issue when, in September 1966, a

  group of armed Peronist youths attempted to take the matter into their own hands. They hijacked a Dakota over Patagonia, flew to Port Stanley, landed on the racecourse (there then being no

  airstrip) and ‘arrested’ two British officials who approached them.




  The group was called the New Argentina Movement and the exploit, codenamed Operation Condor, turned to farce as the plane sank into the soft ground. The group were rounded up by the marines and

  later returned to Argentina. (Their leader was eventually murdered as a Montonero.) Significantly, the Peronist trade union confederation referred to them as national heroes and threatened a

  twenty-four-hour strike if they were punished. Costa Mendes was appalled at this display of Argentine crudity in the midst of what were intended as peaceful negotiations.




  The incident demonstrated the islands’ vulnerability to surprise attack from the mainland. The previous April, Denis Healey had stated that ‘protection for island territories in the

  Atlantic, Indian and Pacific Oceans can readily be provided from our major areas of deployment’. In the case of the Falklands, the relevant area was Simonstown in South Africa. But the

  continued withdrawal from east of Suez was casting doubt on the future of this base, and even Simonstown was a week’s sailing from Port Stanley. What if the

  Argentinians failed to give a week’s notice? The only answer was to increase the islands’ small ‘tripwire’ force of marines to forty, allocate them a hovercraft (which later

  broke down) and divert warships as and when required. While this would not stop a full-scale assault, it would at least necessitate the shedding of blood in any invasion attempt. It was assumed,

  especially in the course of UN negotiations, that the Argentinians would not risk such action.




  By September 1967, the negotiations had reached foreign-minister stage and a meeting took place in New York between Costa Mendes and the new British Foreign Secretary, George

  Brown. Observers felt that Brown’s grasp of the subject was uncertain, though his instinctive ebullience found a response in Costa Mendes’s more calculating diplomacy. The issue of

  islands opinion, previously emphasised by Lord Caradon at the UN, was acknowledged. The British intended to win the islanders round by demonstrating the benefits which a link with the mainland

  would bring. The Argentinians were happy to provide guarantees of continuity of customs and lifestyle. It was sovereignty, not a colony, which they craved. Meetings would continue to produce

  various heads of agreement.




  It was now two years into the negotiations and not a word had been said about them either to Parliament (apart from a brief ‘written answer’) or in Port Stanley. The Foreign Office

  policy had been to prepare a satisfactory package of safeguards as well as economic benefits, to be presented to the islanders in such a way that the good news outweighed the bad. Aware of the

  sensitivity involved on both sides, officials wanted to avoid publicity ‘until ministers were ready’. This could not last. The islands’ governor at the time was Sir Cosmo Haskard,

  the last to be appointed before the Colonial Office merged with the FO. He travelled to London, was told of the Costa Mendes–Brown talks and permitted to inform his executive council of them

  but only under oath of secrecy. His taciturnity on returning to Port Stanley in February 1968 predictably aroused widespread alarm.




  A letter was immediately sent from a number of islanders to MPs in London, and to The Times, warning of their fears over the course of possible negotiations. They complained bitterly of

  lack of consultation and emphasised that, whatever was going on, they ‘did not want to become Argentinians’. Among those who received letters was a somewhat eccentric barrister and

  former diplomat in the British embassy in Buenos Aires, William Hunter Christie. He was a well-known Falklands enthusiast and author of the standard work on the politics of Antarctica.5




  Christie duly approached Patrick Ainslie, chairman of the 116-year-old Falkland Islands Company (FIC), owner of two-thirds of the farms on the islands and virtual controller of its modest

  economy. Christie suggested to Ainslie the formation of a Falkland Islands Emergency Committee which, if the company would fund it, he would run from his office in Lincoln’s Inn. This room, a

  Dickensian stage-set of yellowing papers and dusty tomes, became the centre of activity. Support was assured from a number of MPs, largely on the right of the Conservative Party, including Michael

  Clark Hutchison and Bernard Braine. Ainslie agreed, and with commendable tact Christie managed to get a Labour MP, a farmer named Clifford Kenyon, to act as the committee’s first

  secretary.




  The committee’s aim was simple: to represent in London the views of the islanders independent of the channels provided by the governor and his executive council. The intention, in other

  words, was ostensibly democratic. The Foreign Office took the view that the committee was little more than a front for the FIC. Even its representative on the islands, Arthur Barton, was the

  company’s retired local manager. No one has ever maintained, however, that the committee was at variance with islands opinion. Barton himself was a popular local figure and was an elected

  member of the Falkland Islands’ eight-man legislative council. (The governor’s separate executive council included two members of this body, plus ex-officio

  members.) The FIC’s stance throughout the dispute with Argentina was to be paternalist and strongly pro-British, even when this might have conflicted with its shareholders’

  interests.




  British pressure groups are never so effective as when they are convinced that ministers and civil servants are hatching plots behind their backs. The rights and wrongs of a policy matter less

  than the secrecy with which it is being formulated. The implementation of the UN resolution was not discussed by Parliament until March 1968, when Lord Chalfont was asked in the House of Lords

  whether it was true that negotiations were under way with Argentina. He admitted that they were, but said they were ‘confidential between governments’. He refused an invitation to deny

  that they were about sovereignty.




  Lord Chalfont is the first of many ministers who recall the Falklands as causing them their worst moments in Parliament. Time and again such ministers were hoist on the petard of their own words

  – or words prepared for them by their civil servants. Were they or were they not prepared to transfer sovereignty to the Argentinians even if the islanders objected? What did the perennial

  phrase ‘guided by the islanders’ interests’ really mean? Why were the islanders not present at any talks? What did the Foreign Office understand by self-determination: was it

  determination by the islanders or by the British people as a whole? These questions, put to Chalfont with searing directness, were never truly answered throughout all the years of negotiations.

  Officials felt they were political and for ministers to resolve. Ministers mouthed one evasion after another and hoped someone else would take on their job before the talks became critical.




  Hardly had the new Falklands policy been formulated than the Foreign Office found it crumbling before its eyes. Tory backbenchers were enraged at what John Biggs-Davison MP called a

  ‘solution of shame and infamy’. Argentine expectations were running high. Any change would require consent in both Port Stanley and the House of Commons. Both had now been encouraged to

  fear the worst. Officials had therefore to find a form of words to pour oil on troubled waters without actually denying the UN resolution. On 26 March, Michael Stewart (back

  at the Foreign Office after George Brown’s resignation) told the House that any concession on sovereignty would occur ‘only if it were clear to us . . . that the islanders themselves

  regarded such an agreement as satisfactory to their interests’. Stewart could hardly have put it more categorically, but whenever he and his colleagues were asked if this meant the islanders

  had a veto over any deal, they were reluctant to give a definitive yes. Such a veto would effectively render the negotiations meaningless.




  Talks with Buenos Aires continued throughout the summer of 1968 but with a new hesitancy on the British side. In meetings with the Argentine ambassador, Eduardo McLoughlin, and with Beltramino,

  Chalfont began to refer to the need to ‘create a climate in which one day sovereignty can be discussed’. The climate he referred to was not in London but in Port Stanley. The thrust of

  the talks was towards what came to be known as the ‘hearts and minds’ approach: encouraging the islanders themselves to want the benefits of closer links with the mainland. At the end

  of the year, Chalfont detached himself from a royal visit to Chile to preach this new gospel personally in Port Stanley.




  Chalfont spent three days traversing the islands, extolling the virtues of a new deal with Argentina: an air service to the mainland (the Falklands were then only accessible by sea), better

  schools and hospitals and a more immediate market for local produce. He was greeted with hecklers, banners and placards: ‘No Sellout’ and ‘The Falklands are British’. Local

  opinion seemed totally deaf to Chalfont’s warning that Britain could not sustain the islands indefinitely from 8,000 miles away. Chalfont formed a personal aversion to this combination of

  isolationism and dependency, an aversion shared with many other visitors before and since.




  The report Chalfont prepared for Stewart on his return was brisk. The Argentinians’ strong feeling should not be underestimated. They had shown some willingness to compromise on their

  claim for outright possession. The islanders had shown none. If Britain simply broke off talks, relations with Argentina and with the UN would deteriorate. In a prophetic

  phrase, Chalfont said it might become a ‘casus belli’. The Falklands was discussed in cabinet, and – not for the last time in this matter – the outcome did not find favour

  at the Foreign Office. The Wilson government decided that, as long as the islanders did not want any transfer of sovereignty, it was not worth the political price to force it onto them. On 11

  December 1968, Stewart announced categorically that ‘no transfer could be made against the wishes of the islanders’. The issue remained on the table in the light of the UN resolution,

  but that was all. For good measure, the Tory opposition spokesman, Sir Alec Douglas-Home, pledged that the Tories would ‘strike sovereignty from the agenda’ when they returned to

  office.




  Just as Costa Mendes had succeeded in putting political bite into the Falklands issue in Buenos Aires, so the Falklands lobby and its parliamentary friends had done the same in London. Papers

  such as the Daily Express and Daily Telegraph could be relied upon to leap to the attack at the slightest mention of dealings with Argentina. It was established in the minds of both

  front benches that any Falklands settlement had a ‘political price’ attached to it. The size of the price was unknown. Yet, on so minor an issue, why bother to pay it? Not just

  successive Parliaments but successive cabinets became instinctively hostile to Whitehall’s determination to pursue negotiations, whenever they appeared on any agenda.




  Why did the Foreign Office not now simply give up? The Argentinians could have been told there was nothing doing. The UN could have been told that talks had foundered on its own oft-stated

  principle of self-determination. Instead, the Foreign Office ploughed on. In November 1969, letters were sent to U Thant, the UN Secretary General, promising to continue talks on communications and

  economic cooperation. These talks survived the fall of the Wilson administration and the advent of Sir Alec Douglas-Home to the Foreign Office in 1970. Douglas-Home’s only provisos were that

  sovereignty should not be on the agenda and that the islanders should be involved throughout. To reinforce this downgrading, talks were to be conducted not by the junior

  minister responsible for Latin America, Joseph Godber, nor even by an official from the Latin America department. The chosen envoy was the under-secretary in charge of ‘dependent

  territories’, David Scott.




  Scott’s appointment was a rare stroke of Whitehall tact. A former Commonwealth Office civil servant, Scott had been more concerned with the problems of colonial status than with the

  demands of Britain’s trading relations with South America. His avuncular manner betrayed none of the smooth aloofness which had so often grated on the Falklanders. He also displayed the flair

  possessed by many with experience of colonial administration for projecting a sympathetic personality in public. He was a civil servant playing a quasi-political role. He had not only to negotiate

  a deal with Buenos Aires but also to obtain political consent for it in Port Stanley.




  Some new arrangement for links with the islands was now urgent. The Falkland Islands Company’s vessel, Darwin, which ran monthly to Montevideo, was losing money heavily and was to

  be withdrawn at the end of 1971. The only other regular communication was a charter cargo ship, AES, commuting four times a year to Tilbury with the wool crop and general supplies. A study

  by the accountants Peat Marwick had looked into both sea and air connections and reached the conclusion that an air link was the most economic. The question was who should provide it.




  The 1971 Communications Agreement with Buenos Aires was the highpoint of British Falklands diplomacy. The basis of the deal reached between Scott, McLoughlin and Beltramino was that the British

  would build an airstrip and provide a new shipping link to the Argentine mainland, if the Argentinians would run the air service. Considerable haggling surrounded the status of documentation for

  islanders landing at Comodoro Rivadavia: to the Argentinians it was an ‘internal’ flight, to the British an international one. It was agreed that there should be a ‘white

  card’ of nondescript markings. The Argentinians had to promise not to hold the Falklanders liable for taxation or military service – a long-standing Buenos Aires

  threat.




  The essence of the agreement was simply contact. Scott’s often proclaimed principle was ‘rape of the Falklands, no; seduction, by all means’. The air service would take

  islanders to mainland schools, hospitals and entertainments. Tourism would develop. Supplies of fresh produce, especially fruit, would arrive. The Falklanders could begin to feel a new regional

  identity more in keeping with their location. In June 1971, Scott crossed to Port Stanley to sell his package to the islanders. His reception contrasted with that given to Chalfont three years

  earlier. On radio and at meetings, he repeated time and again that he was ‘not here to sell you up the River Plate’. He wanted to talk not about sovereignty but about a better standard

  of living. He proved a master communicator and the very fact of his non-ministerial status seems to have calmed nerves.




  Scott returned immediately to Buenos Aires with the consent in his pocket, accompanied by a posse of islanders. Ten days of intense talks followed, and the agreement was signed on 1 July.

  Scott’s main constraint was Joseph Godber in London, insistent that no inch be conceded on sovereignty. Afterwards, Beltramino told Scott in confidence that he regarded sovereignty as having

  been shelved for the time being. Scott added his personal view that the islanders would be under an Argentine flag within twenty-five years. Such was the confidence of the officials on both sides

  in the efficacy of the ‘hearts and minds’ policy.




  Scott’s deal obeyed the first law of complex negotiations. It avoided the crucial issue in dispute and concentrated on establishing confidence in areas where minor accord seemed feasible.

  Both sides knew that islander opinion was a stumbling block which could not be disregarded. Confidence in the agreement now had to be built up in Port Stanley, requiring time and tact and money.

  They were to prove scarce commodities.




  The policy adopted by the Foreign Office, both before and since the agreement, was founded on a belief that the Falklanders could eventually be assimilated into the

  essentially European mainland community. No attempt was made, for instance, to buy them out and resettle them elsewhere in Britain or the commonwealth. Yet the mainland community could hardly have

  less in common with the ‘kelpers’. The Anglo-Argentinians of Buenos Aires have their roots in the middle-class commercial life of the capital. The descendants of Scots and Welsh

  settlers in adjacent Patagonia might superficially seem to possess similar characteristics to the Falklanders. Yet even the Welsh of Puerto Madryn are fully fledged Argentinians and proud of it.

  Their lingua franca is Spanish (or Welsh), not English. The Falklanders, as one of them proudly said, have ‘not an ounce of Latin America’ in them.




  The Falklands people have lived for over a century as tenants to the Falkland Islands Company, plus nine other absentee landlords based in Britain. The Shackleton Report of 1976 (see here), a document determinedly optimistic about the islands’ potential, nonetheless referred constantly to the sense of dependency this had created in the workforce. There was virtually no

  local private sector. Almost everyone was employed either by the FIC or by the government. This had bred, in Shackleton’s words, ‘a lack of confidence and enterprise at the individual

  and community level, and a degree of acceptance of their situation which verges on apathy’. A report subsequently written by a marine major, Ewen Southby-Tailyour (who served in the Falklands

  war), was less complimentary. He explained the problems of island development firmly in terms of the poor quality of the workforce. They were, for the most part, ‘a drunken, decadent, immoral

  and indolent collection of drop-outs’. These characteristics, he said, ‘are evident at all levels of society with only a frighteningly few exceptions’. It should be added that,

  despite these strong words, Southby-Tailyour had an affection for these people which is evident throughout his report.




  The Falklands have long suffered from emigration and from a surplus of men to women. On West Falkland this ratio is more than two to one. The presence of a marine

  garrison, even just forty strong, marrying one or two girls a year and taking them back to England, has been a constant source of complaint. Girls of childbearing age in a community of just 1,800

  people are a crucial local resource. One consequence has been a divorce rate estimated at three times that of a roughly equivalent Scots island community.




  In addition, the nature of the islands’ one export, wool, encourages the settlers of the Camp – the territory outside Port Stanley (from Spanish campo) – to a solitary

  existence. They demonstrate little of the intense interdependence of communities which live off the sea. There is no island fishery – despite no apparent shortage of fish. Cohesion lies in

  human intercourse between families and neighbours rather than in strong local institutions and cultural traditions. The Falklands are a fragile society, threatened by any intrusion or change,

  including that represented by the younger generation. Visiting teachers, soldiers, scientists, government officials – their presence hinting at a better life elsewhere – have all been

  seen as part of that threat.




  The Falklanders share a collective fragility with small isolated communities the world over. Sociologists have detected it even in the urban villages of major city centres. Yet, in the 1970s,

  the Falkland islanders’ predicament seemed stark: they felt they were being handed over to an enemy. The islands’ population may have been almost comically small, but in the context of

  post-imperial self-determination it had an emotional weapon to arm itself against change more effectively than any other community under the rule of the British Parliament.




  The Communications Agreement began fruitfully enough. Local enthusiasm was considerable, especially among the younger islanders. Scholarships were offered and taken up at

  mainland schools. There were jokes about oranges, gauchos and a possible replenishment in the supply of women. In January 1972 an Albatross flying-boat landed off Port Stanley to commence temporary

  twice-monthly flights to Comodoro Rivadavia, prior to an airstrip being built. The cruise liner Libertad arrived with 350 Argentine tourists, who cleaned Port Stanley

  out of its limited stock of souvenirs. Arthur Barton was sufficiently encouraged to tell the Falkland Islands Committee in London that they could wind up their operations.




  The first back-sliding was a British one. Whatever agreement Scott might have signed in Buenos Aires, he was not plenipotentiary over the Treasury. There was no sign of the promised maritime

  link to an Argentine port to replace Darwin. This placed correspondingly greater emphasis on the importance of the Argentine air link and on Argentine ships to supply it with aviation fuel.

  British engineers made a survey of Cape Pembroke outside Port Stanley as site for the promised airport, but this indicated a need for costly foundation work well beyond the resources of the

  Falkland Islands’ budget. The Foreign Office had not secured the necessary finance from the Overseas Development Agency, and were thus unable to honour the British side of the agreement.




  The Argentinians offered to lay a temporary runway themselves if the British would obtain from the Americans the necessary steel-mesh strip. This was done at an estimated cost of $1 million,

  reportedly as part of a defence package which included an exchange of information with the Americans on jump-jet technology. In the second week of May 1972, the Argentine naval transport Cabo

  San Gonzalo sailed from Buenos Aires carrying forty workmen and technicians and loaded with 900 tons of construction and air-control equipment. They were waved off at the quayside by the

  British ambassador, Sir Michael Hadow, himself. The local correspondent of the Financial Times opened his report with the words: ‘The Argentines have finally established a beach-head

  on the Falklands.’ He laconically listed the items aboard the ship and reported the comment of a local magazine: ‘Each item in a certain way implies the ratification of

  Argentina’s sovereignty.’




  Whitehall now experienced a severe bout of interdepartmental warfare. As the temporary airstrip was down, the Overseas Development Agency, with far more pressing claims on

  its tight budget, began to wonder what possible reason there was for any permanent airport. Why not wait and see what market there might be for the new Argentine Fokker Friendship service? Might a

  longer runway not make an Argentine invasion easier? If one were built, should it be of domestic length or suitable for international jets – perhaps a South Pole route to New Zealand?

  Approval was finally given for the project to go out to tender, but only for a short runway. The promise of a new sea link to the mainland vanished without trace. Every nuance of this argument was

  read, and misread, in Buenos Aires. Britain’s commitment to the Communications Agreement, and thus to the future of the Falklands, was apparently less than wholehearted.




  Argentine politics, after a period of comparative stability under the military regime of General Ogania, was deteriorating into chaos. Haunted by the still-powerful presence of Peron in his

  Madrid exile, the military authorities finally allowed him home on a visit in November 1972. They hoped the sight of the ageing dictator in the flesh would demythologise his name and divide his

  supporters. They were wrong. Within a year, Peron was back in the presidential palace. Though he was now a dying man his return was an extraordinary comeback for an essentially prewar fascist

  leader. Once again the crudest sort of nationalism was on the Argentine political agenda.




  If the British had dishonoured the letter of the Communications Agreement, the Argentinians had been less than careful to preserve its spirit. Beltramino and Scott had meticulously negotiated

  that the opening of the air link would be a civilian affair, even though it would be run by the military air service, LADE. When Scott arrived at Buenos Aires for the ceremony to celebrate the

  launch of the service – his last function before becoming High Commissioner to New Zealand – he was horrified to see the inaugural flight filled with senior officers in full uniform.

  Events worthy of an Ealing comedy ensued. The Falkland Islands’ governor, Toby Lewis, was ordered to run up the British flag at the airstrip and appear in full-dress

  regalia, his plumes blowing proudly in the strong wind. The islanders took fright and feared a covert invasion, engineered as much by the British Foreign Office as by the Argentinians. There was

  even rumour of a demonstration. The islands’ secretary, John Laing, overreacted and called out the marine detachment on patrol. A supposedly joyful event was overshadowed by high tension.




  Buenos Aires, now overtaken completely by a Peronist revival, effectively abandoned the Scott–Beltramino ‘hearts and minds’ policy. The Argentine ambassador to the UN reopened

  the sovereignty question, warning that his government might be forced to ‘seek the eradication of this anachronistic colonial situation’. Peronist journals such as Cronica and

  Mayoria took up the cue. The ambassador was praised for his new departure from the ‘history of our pusillanimous and colourless diplomacy’. In Port Stanley, the LADE staff,

  blatantly military and resentful at being posted to such a spot, provoked the growing hostility of the islanders. In London the Falkland Islands Committee was reformed, again on Hunter

  Christie’s initiative. Joseph Godber left the Foreign Office, to be replaced by the hardest of hard-liners, Julian Amery.




  Implementation of the Communications Agreement passed in 1973 to the new head of the Latin America department, Hugh Carless, and his superintending under-secretary, Robin Edmonds. Carless had

  already served in Brazil and achieved a certain unwonted fame as a butt of Eric Newby’s satire in A Short Walk in the Hindu Kush. He was also one of the few outstanding Latin American

  experts produced by the Foreign Office since the war. To the Falklands Islands Committee, Carless, Edmonds and his successor as under-secretary, George Hall, became the embodiment of the Whitehall

  Falklands policy.




  Two supplementary Communications Agreements were reached by the Foreign Office aimed at encouraging economic links with the mainland and permitting the Argentinians to build and supply fuel

  tanks at the airfield. Fuel oil, including that for the islands’ modest internal air service, would be provided exclusively by the Argentine state oil concern, YFP, and

  the base would be staffed by Argentine military personnel. At the same time, the British belatedly announced the commencement of work on a concrete runway at Cape Pembroke. These agreements, signed

  in June 1974, did more than anything to increase the islanders’ suspicions of the Foreign Office. They had lost their monthly British supply ship, and received instead a less than reliable

  Argentine air service. They had seen an influx of Argentine supplies and officials, and Argentina had now gained control of their fuel oil. To cap it all, in December 1974, the Argentine ambassador

  to London, Manuel Anchorena, was summoned back to Buenos Aires after negotiating the new agreements and insulted publicly as a ‘lawyer for the British’.




  A month later, Buenos Aires imposed immigration controls on all air travel to the Falklands. The ‘white card’ was now replaced by one declaring the holder to be an Argentine citizen

  of the Malvinas. Without submitting to this unilateral breach of the 1971 agreement, no Falklander could get to or from the rest of the world (except on an occasional British ship). By conceding

  this measure – and with no new British sea link in sight there was no option – Britain granted Buenos Aires effective passport control over the islanders. It was a major advance in

  Argentina’s fight for sovereignty.
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